Onley Town Council
Regular Monthly Meeting
Minutes of October 6, 2025
Onley Town Office, 25308 Lankford Highway, Onley, VA

Council Members Present: Ned Finney, Mayor
Bill Ferguson, Vice-Mayor
Daniel Bloxom
Jason Campbell
Brian Corbin
Rodney Lang
Woody Zember

Staff Present: Carl Bundick, Town Attorney
E.J. Long, Chief of Police, OPD
Susan Rillo, Town Manager
Jamye Salazar, Clerk/Treasurer

Call to Order
Mayor Finney called the meeting to order at 6:00pm.

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance
The invocation was given by Councilman Corbin. Vice-Mayor Ferguson led the Pledge of Allegiance.

Adoption of Agenda
Motion: To adopt the agenda by Daniel Bloxom and seconded by Bill Ferguson. Roll Call Vote: Bloxom
-yes; Campbell — yes; Corbin- yes; Ferguson- yes; Lang- yes; Zember - yes. MOTION PASSED

Commission/Committee Reports

Public Works Garage Committee — Ms. Rillo reported that the committee did not meet this month, but
we will be opening the bids later in the night for the bathroom and office construction.

Town Office Construction Committee — Ms. Rillo reported that the committee met earlier in the month,
and they have decided on everything that they need in the building for presentation to an architect.
Council needs to decide crawlspace versus slab. Council agreed that the building should be constructed
on aslab.

Old Business

Chief Long stated that he still does not have any certified applicants for the police vacancy. He said that
he does have two applicants that are not certified. Mr. Campbell would like to send two to the academy
at the same time. Chief Long said the problem with sending two is field training. Mr. Campbell agreed.
He also stated that we are underpaying our officers. Mr. Lang disagreed, stating that it looks like to him
that we are in line with some other agencies based on the information provided tonight. He added that
we also have a very nice benefits package. Chief Long said that the information provided tonight may be
out of date due to recent changes. Mayor Finney said Council should have been provided current
information. Mr. Ferguson said he has inquired with several officers about their non-interest in working
here and the bottom line is we do not pay enough. He commented “$10,000.00 is $10,000.00". Mr.
Corbin asked if he is suggesting that everyone get a $10,000.00 raise. He also asked Mr. Ferguson if he
has evidence that we are paying $10,000.00 less than others because the information provided tonight



Onley Town Council
Regular Monthly Meeting
Minutes of October 6, 2025
Onley Town Office, 25308 Lankford Highway, Onley, VA
does not support that. Mr. Corbin pointed out (as an example) that Officer Anderson is making
$3,000.00 more than a deputy at the NCSO with the same years of experience. He asked Chief Long if
this information was in response to a FOIA request. Chief Long said yes but that the information may be
outdated. Mr. Corbin said that Council should not have been given outdated information and asked
Chief Long to make another FOIA request for current information. Mr. Campbell said one of the bigger
complaints that he hears is that there is no opportunity for overtime, which affects bottom line salaries.
Mr. Lang asked if we could use some of the funds allocated for the fourth and fifth officer’s salaries to
fund overtime hours for our officers. Chief Long said that former Chief Spivey tried to implement an
overtime program for speed enforcement but at that time, Council did not want it. Mr. Campbell
suggested that we do that on a trial basis using 100 hours and then have Chief Long report the numbers
to us so we can see if it is successful.
Motion: To approve (on a trial basis) 100 hours of overtime to be divided equally among our officers
for traffic enforcement (officers can allocate unwanted hours to each other) while we are short-
handed and at the end of that period, we look at the expense versus revenue (Chief Long will track it
and report the outcome) and decide if we want to continue that program by Jason Campbel! and
seconded by Bill Ferguson and Rodney Lang. Mr. Lang yielded to Mr. Ferguson. Roll Call Vote: Bloxom -
yes; Campbell — yes; Corbin- yes; Ferguson- yes; Lang— yes; Zember - yes. MOTION PASSED
Mr. Zember asked how we will measure the success of this program. Mr. Campbell said the officers will
keep those summonses separate and will relay that information to the Chief for his report. Ms. Salazar
asked how this will affect the Highway Safety Grant since those hours must be used, or we will forfeit
the funds. She also reminded Chief Long that police officers do not get paid overtime until they hit 85.5
hours in a pay period. Chief Long agreed that the Highway Safety Grant hours will have to take
precedence, and overtime is not paid until that 85.5-hour mark is reached. Mr. Zember expressed
concern about measuring the success rate based on the number of fines/tickets and he doesn’t think we
should do that. Mr. Campbel! said we cannot measure employee performance that way, but he thinks
we are okay to measure the success of the overtime program.
Council decided to have Chief Long start the process of interviewing non-certified applicants, continue
to look for a certified candidate, and have Ms. Rillo advertise on Facebook in addition to current
avenues. Mr. Bundick said he will need some concrete decisions about the contract for non-certified
candidates. Chief Long said the approximate cost to train someone is $14,640.00, not including salary
and benefits. Mr. Campbell suggested the following: reimbursement of $10,000.00, but if they leave %
way through the contract, they owe us $5,000.00; after that, the amount of repayment is calculated
based on percentage of time remaining in the two-year period. Mr. Corbin and Mr. Zember said they
cannot agree to anything until they have seen the contract for reimbursement. Mr. Campbell said we
may lose a good officer if we keep waiting. Mr. Corbin said that’s a chance we will have to take because
we are talking about public funds and things must be done properly. Chief Long asked Council to allow
him to begin the process of hiring a candidate, but no one will be hired until the contract is finished and
a decision about hiring will be made at the November or December meeting. Council agreed.
Motion: To allow the Chief of Police and Town Manager to begin the investigation process (including
interviews) for the two applicants that we currently have and anymore that apply (to be addressed at
the next town meeting) by Jason Campbell and seconded by Bill Ferguson. Roll Call Vote: Bloxom -yes;
Campbell — yes; Corbin- yes; Ferguson- yes; Lang—yes; Zember - yes. MOTION PASSED
Mes. Rillo presented Council with the one bid that was received for the construction of an office and
bathroom in the public works garage. The bid from JHP Construction is in the amount of $22,535.00. She
explained that amount includes an additional $3,500.00 for a mini-split system in lieu of baseboard heat
and additional $800.00 for foam board. Mayor Finney and Mr. Lang questioned some of the material



Onley Town Council
Regular Monthly Meeting
Minutes of October 6, 2025
Onley Town Office, 25308 Lankford Highway, Onley, VA
being used in the construction, but no changes were made. Mayor Finney suggested that we reach out
to Mr. Patterson and ask if he is willing to come down on the price. Council agreed. Mr. Bloxom said that
if he does agree to this price, there cannot be any change orders, adding that seems to have happened a
lot with things that we have done in the past. Mayor Finney asked Ms. Rillo to make sure that the floor is
sealed in the garage. Mr. Corbin asked Mr. Bundick to possibly write a contract to protect ourselves
against change orders. Council agreed. Ms. Rillo said she asked for a contingency to be included in the
bid price, but the contractor did not include one in the bid.
Council was presented with the most recent draft property maintenance ordinance. Ms. Rillo said that
Mr. Bundick has reviewed it and now if Council is satisfied, it needs to be sent to a public hearing. Mr.
Zember questioned the mention of salvage dealers, adding that we do not have any or allow it. Mr.
Corbin said we should leave it just to be safe. Ms. Rillo agreed, stating that one could be allowed with a
SUP. Ms. Salazar stated that we need to assign an ordinance number (002-25) and add the proper
wording at the beginning and end including the public hearing information and the vote of the Council.
Motion: To send the draft Property Maintenance Ordinance 002-25 to Public Hearing by Bill Ferguson
and seconded by Daniel Bloxom. Roll Call Vote: Bloxom -yes; Campbell — yes; Corbin- yes; Ferguson-
yes; Lang— yes; Zember - yes. MOTION PASSED

New Business

Ms. Rillo asked for Council’s approval to purchase Biomist. The cost is $2,587.49 per drum. She
suggested buying three, adding that would take us over our budget amount by about $700.00.

Council did not want to go over budget.

Motion: To purchase two barrels of Biomist at a cost of $5,174.98 by Rodney Lang and seconded by
Brian Corbin. Roll Call Vote: Bloxom -yes; Campbell — yes; Corbin- yes; Ferguson- yes; Lang- yes; Zember
- yes. MOTION PASSED

The Police Department Salary Review was discussed earlier in the night. Mr. Campbell stated that in the
last two weeks, he has received two emails about lift assist notifications in or around town, one involved
a person weighing around 500 pounds. He feels that since we have asked that our officers assist medical
calls, that puts us in a position where officers can get hurt. He suggested that we offer incentives for
physical fitness, speaking Spanish, etc. He would like Council to consider covering gym memberships and
allow officers to use their patrol vehicles to go to the gym. Ms. Salazar said that while she has no issues
with covering the costs for gym memberships, that is a Council decision, she is concerned with officers
helping with things like lift assistance, adding that we specifically stopped our officers from doing certain
things to avoid causing work-related injuries. She gave changing flat tires as an example of something
that we stopped a while ago based on a recommendation from VRSA. She suggested we contact VRSA
and ask their opinion on the subject relating to our liability. Mayor Finney said there is no money in our
budget to cover the costs of gym memberships at this time. Mr. Campbell would like to discuss it when
the next budget workshops begin. Ms. Salazar will make note.

Mr. Ferguson said that he and at least one constituent has noticed the problems with the ditches in
town. Ms. Rillo said that she recently attended the Accomack County Ditch Maintenance Program kick-
off. She has learned that it doesn’t apply to towns but according to Chris Isdell, VDOT will perform ditch
maintenance if it is located within the VDOT right-of-way. The homeowner will need to contact VDOT via
telephone or the VDOT website. She added that Accomack County will reimburse us (towns) for ditch
work that we hire out (for any work that VDOT will not do). She said that all property owners must sign
and give permission for the ditches to be cleaned, adding that permission is good for three years. She
stated that if all property owners along the ditch do not give permission, then the ditch will not be
cleaned. Council asked Ms. Rillo to put the VDOT information on the town website.



Onley Town Council
Regular Monthly Meeting
Minutes of October 6, 2025
Onley Town Office, 25308 Lankford Highway, Onley, VA
Department Reports

Police Report

Chief Long presented his monthly written report and speed sign report to Council. He said there is
another issue with the speed sign on Pennsylvania, and he will need to make an adjustment. He
presented Council with an invoice from AXON for the OSP plan that was purchased three years ago with
ARPA funds. He explained that the total amount for the plan was not set aside from ARPA funds, so we
do not have any money in the current budget to pay it. The total amount is $16,542.41. Ms. Salazar
explained that we were unable to pay the entire five years upfront so when we do the budget, we
should be adding this amount to the equipment expense line item. She added that going forward she
will make sure that happens, noting that we had the same issue with an invoice that was paid last month
for the in-car camera system. Mayor Finney requested that Chief Long make a list of all the equipment
that we have as well as the cost for the yearly plans so that we can better prepare for the upcoming
budget year. Mr. Corbin said he is concerned that we are spending a lot of money, and he wanted to
know if these are things that we absolutely need. Chief Long said we do need the body cameras and the
tasers, but Council requested the in-car cameras. Mr. Campbell asked what happens at the end of the
“lease” — do we own the equipment. Chief Long said that at the five-year mark, our equipment is
upgraded. Mayor Finney said that we need these things, but the unfortunate part is everything is
coming due at once along with the fact we didn’t budget for it. Chief Long said that he and Ms. Salazar
think that we can move the money from the police salary line item to cover the cost since we did budget
for five officers and currently only have three. Ms. Salazar expressed concern that to pay this invoice, we
may need to amend our budget since the amount is greater than 1% of our entire budget. She is trying
to get an answer to whether we can make a motion to move the money from one line item to another
without amending the entire budget. Billye D. Custis suggested that we charge it to equipment expense
for now and then we can amend the budget once we see what happens with the police department.
Council agreed that it was a good idea.

Motion: To pay the AXON invoice in the amount of $16,542.41 by Rodney Lang and seconded by
Daniel Bloxom. Roll Call Vote: Bloxom -yes; Campbell — yes; Corbin- yes; Ferguson- yes; Lang—yes;
Zember - yes. MOTION PASSED

Chief Long reminded everyone to attend National Night Out tomorrow night at the park from 5:00-7:00.
Mr. Cambell asked how much we are spending on that event. Chief Long did not have a total at this
time. Mayor Finney asked if it had been advertised on the radio. Chief Long said he did not, but he
would do so tomorrow. Mayor Finney said it’s probably too late for that now. He said that we need to
get better at advertising town events.

Treasurer’s Report

Ms. Salazar presented her written financial report to Council. She also reported some additional things
that she worked on over the past month including some Workman’s Comp changes, Davis Disposal rate
change/invoice explanation, quarterly IRS and VEC payroll and unemployment taxes, a dormant account
at PNC Bank, and the ATL grant application has been completed.

She reported that we gave 183 Food Lion gifts cards with the newsletters, and we currently have 17 left
over. She noted that we currently have 17 delinquent taxpayers who did not receive cards.

Motion: To pay the September 2025 payables by Daniel Bloxom and seconded by Woody Zember. Roll
Call Vote: Bloxom -yes; Campbell — yes; Corbin- yes; Ferguson- yes; Lang- yes; Zember - yes. MOTION
PASSED



Onley Town Council
Regular Monthly Meeting
Minutes of October 6, 2025
Onley Town Office, 25308 Lankford Highway, Onley, VA
Ms. Salazar said the 90-day CD at Taylor Bank is maturing and she presented Council with some
term/rate options. She recommended that they roll over into a 12-month CD with a rate of 3.25%
leaving the money at Taylor Bank.
Motion: To roll the 90-day CD at Taylor Bank into a 12-month CD with a rate of 3.25% by Rodney Lang
and seconded by Daniel Bloxom. Roll Call Vote: Bloxom -yes; Campbell - yes; Corbin- yes; Ferguson-
yes; Lang— yes; Zember - yes. MOTION PASSED

Town Manager/Zoning Administrator Report

Ms. Rillo asked Mayor Finney to speak about the cornhole board installation at the park. Mayor Finney
said that he has built two forms for one set of boards and Percy has dug the holes, so they plan to pour
the concrete this week. He will do the same for the second set within the next couple of weeks. He
thanked Chaney Enterprises for letting us use their forklift to move the heavy boards from the garage to
the park.

Ms. Rillo said she continues to work on grass issues.

Attorney’s Report

Mr. Bundick reported that he worked on the Property Maintenance Ordinance with Ms. Salazar. He is
pleased with it and believes that it is enforceable. He thanked Mr. Campbell for his work on that. He also
reviewed some sample employee contracts in anticipation of hiring an uncertified police officer.

Consideration of Minutes

Motion: To adopt the minutes of September 3, 2025, Regular Monthly Meeting by Rodney Lang and
seconded by Bill Ferguson. Roll Call Vote: Bloxom -yes; Campbell —yes; Corbin- yes; Ferguson- yes;
Lang- yes; Zember - yes. MOTION PASSED

Public Comments

Billye D. Custis said that we had to call VDOT many times to finally get them to clean the park ditches.
She believes that it took 3-4 years before they did the work and now, they need to do it again. She said
there was an issue years ago with a woman in town that would not sign to have the ditch behind her
property cleaned unless the town agreed to replace any bushes that she had planted along the ditch
(should they die). The town could not agree to that, so the ditch was never cleaned. Lastly, she said we
used to carry $5,000.00 forward in the ditch maintenance line item from when Laura Belle Gordy was
our County Supervisor and secured that money for us. It was just removed within the last few years.
John Dennis signed up to speak but stated that his question about the ditches had already been
answered earlier in the night by Ms. Rillo.

Mayor Finney asked Ms. Rillo to check with VDOT to see if they plan to work on our ditches and if not,
we can hire someone and possibly be reimbursed.

Council Comments

Jason Campbell feels that we are on the right track with the police department. He said while it is
unfortunate that we will have to spend a bit of money, the good thing is we will create the officer we
want and not deal with someone else’s problem. He mentioned a letter from George McMath
expressing his concern about the issue with the post office parking lot entrance. He thanked Mayor
Finney for his help with the cornhole boards at the park.



Onley Town Council
Regular Monthly Meeting
Minutes of October 6, 2025
Onley Town Office, 25308 Lankford Highway, Onley, VA
Bill Ferguson thanked everyone for coming to the meeting. Her thanked the town family for their hard
work. He is happy that we are making progress on the new town office.
Daniel Bloxom thanked everyone for coming. He said he hopes everyone can make it to National Night
Out and the Trunk or Treat event.
Brian Corbin cautioned Council moving forward with other projects by saying that it seems that we
forge ahead with these projects without really educating ourselves as to the whole cost of the project.
He cited the public works garage project and the cornhole boards at the park as examples. He thinks we
need to spend more time researching projects so that we know the total costs. He also wants us to make
contracts as tight as possible.
Woody Zember thanked everyone for coming. He wants Council to remain cautious about the possibility
of hiring an uncertified police officer. He wants to make sure that we get a good return on our
investment and that the contract for sending someone to school is sound should it not work out.
Rodney Lang is happy that everyone agreed on the bid for the garage. He thinks Council made the right
decision to have Ms. Rillo reach out to Mr. Patterson to save money.
Mayor Finney said he thinks that Council can leave this meeting tonight feeling good about their
decisions. He appreciates that everyone on Council has individual abilities and knowledge that they
bring to the table and that makes things go smoothly.

Adjourn
Motion: To adjourn (7:48pm) by Jason Campbell and seconded by Daniel Bloxom. Roll Call Vote:
Bloxom -yes; Campbell — yes; Corbin- yes; Ferguson- yes; Lang—yes; Zember - yes. MOTION PASSED

Respectfully submitted,

o ﬂskg&;{’:-\/

Japhye L. Salazar, Clerk/Treasurer

ujéﬂ Meej/

Henry E.Finney, Mayor



